I. INTRODUCTION 

King County ("County") failed to remedy known discrimination and a 

hostile work environment in its Wastewater Treatment Divisions ("WTD") 

Ignacio Marin ("Marin") reports racist conduct, disproportionate 

assignment to the least desirable grueling manual labor, and harassment of 

himself and his coworkers in a Hostile Work Environment ("HWE"). 

Supervisor Sagnis with overt retaliatory intent imposes immediate 

unwarranted discipline on Marin without investigating the facts. Marin, 

receives an adverse transfer to the Renton Treatment Plant ("RTP"), where 

it would take him "years to learn the plant". Marin is considered "of little 

value" and his supervisor notes say "eligible to retire in 3 years." Without 

required training the County denies Marin's HWE complaint and 

withholds "smoking gun" information, but Marin does not concede. The 

County blames Marin, papers his file with criticism and threat of 

discipline, up to termination, until finally Marin, on medical leave without 

requested accommodations, spirals downward into depression, unwanted 

early retirement and financial insecurity. 

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

I. The Court erred in granting Summary Judgment dismissing claims of 

"different treatment" discrimination based on race, national origin, 

disability, and retaliation. 



2. The Court erred in granting the County's CR 50 motion as to 

"retaliation" as a basis for Marin's HWE claim. 

3. The Court erred in granting a motion in limine to exclude pre- statute 

of limitation evidence of racial disparity, Washington Law Against 

Discrimination ("WLAD") protected activity and HWE. 

4. The Court erred in striking the testimony of Lloyd Holman. 

5. The Court erred in excluding evidence of conversations between 

Marin and Supervisor Sagnis regarding a protected activity and 

retaliatory disciplinary action. 

6. The Court erred in requiring Marin to lay a foundation outside the 

presence of the jury as to each witnesses' prior knowledge of Marin 

having made a complaint of discrimination. 

7. The Court erred in failing to fully question and excuse panel juror 71. 

8. The Court erred in denying Marin's motion to supplement the record 

with juror 71 's email. 

9. The Court erred in reducing voir dire time without prior notice and 

with issues of bias, inter-aha, remaining to be addressed. 

10. The Court erred in penalizing Marin's trial time, for a cause challenge. 

11. The Court erred in failing to grant an additional preemptory challenge 

when a juror came into the box after peremptory challenges. 

12. The Court erred in its February 19, 2013 Order Imposing Sanctions. 
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13. The Court erred in failing to use a Burnett analysis prior to allowing 

the County to place undisclosed prejudicial documents into evidence. 

14. The Court erred in denying Marin's Motion for Sanctions .. 

15. The Court erred in sanctioning Marin's counsel. 

16. The Court erred in overruling Marin's objections to character evidence 

and opinions of credibility in testimony of Mark McClung, MD. 

17. The Court erred by awarding excessive "costs" against Marin. 

18. The Court erred in denying Marin's requests for protection against 

inherent and actual bias, and in denying "Batson" motions. 

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. A WLAD retaliation claim should not be dismissed on summary 

judgment where there is admissible evidence of WLAD protected activity, 

direct evidence of retaliatory animus, and "materially adverse action(s)". 

Assignments of Error 1, 14. 

2. "Retaliation" should not be dismissed as one basis of a HWE 

claim under CR 50 where there is admissible evidence of known WLAD 

protected activity, direct evidence of supervisory retaliatory animus, and 

"materially adverse action(s)" by managers, supervisors and coworkers. 

Assignments of Error 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 14. 

3. Under the WLAD, pre-statute evidence relevant to show an 

ongoing HWE, notice of protected activity, a pattern and practice of racial 

3 



disparity, and/or "pretext" of the employer's explanations Assignments of 

Error 1,2,3,5, 6.4. 

4. A recording of conversations between a public agency 

supervisor and a public employee relating to the employee's complaint of 

harassment/discrimination and, to the supervisor's formal disciplinary 

action against that employee are not "private" conversations subject to the 

restrictions ofRCW 9.73.030 Assignments of Error 5,12,15. 

5. Sanctions should not be imposed on counsel pursuant to CR 

26(g), where counsel produced discovery "seasonably" without CR 3 7 

Motion or Order, and where any arguable delay was not intentional or 

prejudicial. Assignments of Error 12,14,15. 

6. The Court did not ensure selection of an impartial/constitutional 

jury where it failed to question or excuse juror 71 for cause; denied a 

Batson Motion and anti-bias instructions, reduced voir dire time without 

notice, denied Marin a peremptory challenge to a new juror; deducted 

from Marin's limited trial time for voir dire and a cause challenge to juror 

71. Assignments of Error 7,8,9,10,11,18. 

7. The Court should have decided Marin's discovery abuse 

motions to exclude evidence based on the Burnett standard and acted on 

his spoliation motions to mitigate prejudice. Assignments of Error 5, 12, 

13,14,15, 18. 

8. The Court should have excluded opinions of expert psychiatrist 

McClung about Marin's "character traits" under ER 403, ER 404, and ER 
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702; and his opm10n about credibility of Marin's "perceptions" of 

workplace harassment. Assignments of Error 16, 18, 
9. The Judgment for Costs against Marin should be reduced where 

it awards costs not authorized by statute. Assignment of Error 17, 18. 

III. ST A TEMENT OF THE CASE. 

This is a hotly contested hard fought RCW 49.60 WLAD 

employment discrimination case. Substantial claims of discrimination and 

retaliation were dismissed on summary judgment. CP 1752-1757. The trial 

started September 4, 2014 on issues of HWE based on race, national 

origin, age, disability and retaliation as well as a "failure to make 

reasonable accommodation" disability claim. The retaliation basis for the 

HWE was dismissed on a CR 50 ruling the day before closing. Trial ended 

on September 24, 2014 and resulted in a defense verdict. RP 9/25/2014 

p.96-99. Marin, a Peruvian born naturalized US Citizen, and a qualified 

licensed Boiler Operator and Certified Wastewater Treatment Operator, 

worked in the Wastewater Treatment Division ("WTD") (previously 

Metro) for more than 28 years. During his employment, he had 

experienced, and complained about, racial hostility, different treatment 

from Caucasian coworkers, a hostile work environment, and retaliation for 

his complaints and protected activity. CP 1435-1449. In 2009-2011 WTD 

also failed to provide reasonable accommodations his doctor's requested 
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•. 

so that he could perform his job. Exh.173; Exh.209. In 2010-2011 the 

WTD applied retaliatory sanctioning and threats of discipline, despite its 

inadequate training about Renton ("RTP") and Hazardous High Voltage 

equipment by WTD. Exh.206. 

The waste water treatment plants at West Point ("WPTP") and 

Renton ("RTP") operate 24 hours a day and have close knit shift crews of 

5-6 WTP Operators that are on 12-hour shifts. The crews known as "A", 

"B", "C" and "D" Crews. Marin worked at WPTP from 1982 to 2009, in a 

continuing and repeated cycle of different treatment, reporting, lack of 

remedial action and retaliation. In his second complaint to management, 

in December 1990, Marin testified to the history of his experience of 

discrimination and retaliation.,CP 1558 1 See generally CP 1558-1631 

Marin's Response to County's motion for summary judgment. 

Testimony about Marin's treatment on "D Crew" at WPTP from 

1997 to 2005 describes the same kinds of continuing different treatment as 

his complaints on the same "D Crew" under supervisor James Sagnis and 

Mark Horton from 2007-2009. Norm Cook, an African American 

coworker on "D Crew" corroborates Marin's testimony of continuing 

disproportionate assignment to the dirtiest and hardest work; denial of sign 

offs for advancement, and unfair discipline. CP 1438 (Marin Deel SJ) CP 
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1424:23-1426:17 and CP 1429:2 -1432:7 and CP 1434:13-18 (Cook); CP 

1430: 1-6. "Mr. Marin and I were in the heavy area until one of the favored 

guys went on vacation and then we could work their desirable area until 

they got back." CP 1430:17-20. 

Supervisor Sagnis and Horton took over Marin's "D Crew" in 

2007 through 2009, worsening the disparity in "filthy" manual labor, 

public demeaning, and limited opportunities for training or skilled 

operator work, increasing Marin's anxiety and cardiac symptoms. RP 

9117/2014 p.38,40. Horton's bullying Marin to "dig grit" and displacing 

Marin on engine work, by calling in a Caucasian from another crew "so 

Marin would have "no excuses " but dig pre-aer grit Exh.s 60, 61, made 

Marin ill in April 2009. When Marin complained about Horton's disparate 

harassment, Sagnis on April 20, 2009 accused Marin of misconduct. 

Sagnis, WTD HR, and WTP Manager Elardo rushed with numerous 

emails, edits and rewrites to prepare and impose unwarranted, disparate 

discipline accusing Marin of "insubordination", with written discipline on 

May 10, 2009. Exh 82 & 83; Exh.162; RP 9/09/2014 p.9; Exh.86. 

On May 11, 2009 the Operators Union filed Marin's grievance 

alleging no "just cause", harassment, and hostile work environment. Exh. 

84. A County EAP Counselor documented Marin's report of illness and 

1 There is not enough room in an appeal brief to layout the extensive record of evidence 
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hostile work environment and made a referral of Marin to King County 

Disability Services. Exh.67. Disability Services' documented Marin's 

disability and symptoms, his report of Horton and Sagnis' harassment, 

and, made a referral of Marin to King County Human Resources 

("KCHR") for intake of a discrimination complaint, Exh. 69, and Marin's 

completed FMLA documentation. But there it ended. No complaint was 

taken and nothing happened to remedy Marin's workplace or to derail the 

unwarranted discipline. Marin fearing retaliation hired a lawyer, filed a 

WLAD complaint with KCHR and was temporarily moved to RTP "C 

Crew". "C Crew" supervisor James Alenduff was told Marin needed to be 

in a "safe non-hostile environment" for about 3 weeks during an 

investigation of his WLAD grievance. CP 3379-3410, Exh.89; RP 

9/18/2014 p.20-21. Marin's temporary stay at RTP was extended on July 

21, 2009 Exh.104. Marin would never return to WPTP. 

Meanwhile at WPTP, Sagnis makes overt retaliatory statements 

against Marin. Exhs.122, 135. Sagnis tells "D Crew", during the formal 

discrimination investigation of Sagnis and Horton that Marin would not be 

coming back. RP 9/08/2014 p.145, 147-148. HR's Ramsey writes to HR 

Director Milestone and WTP Mgr. Elardo, documenting Sagnis' reaction 

to Marin's proposed return to "D Crew": "would not be pleasant" that 

of discriminatory conduct at issue in this case. Marin will cite to the clerks papers. 
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Marin had "shit all over the crew" and Marin had "made his bed, now he 

would have to lie in it". Exh.135. The County leaves Sagnis and Horton 

in charge of "D Crew", choosing to block the return of Marin to WPTP 

where he successfully operated for years. Exh.135. The County 

pretextually and strategically "offered" Marin a return to "D Crew", 

Sagnis still there, without telling Marin of the "finding" of Sagnis' 

retaliatory statements nor the County's decision that Marin could never 

return to "D Crew". RP 9/23/2014 p.166-167; Exhs.135, 160 

RTP plant manager Fischer opposed Marin's permanent transfer to 

RTP because "the problem was caused at West Point and should be solved 

at West Point'', and because Marin would be of "very little value" at RTP 

on crews. Exh.149. Fischer and Marin's new crew knew it would take 

years for Marin to learn the huge RTP. RP 9/10/2014 p.100-lOl;RP 

9/22/2014 p.158. 

Marin struggled to learn RTP while Alenduffs "C Crew" trainer 

Lee Higginbotham declined to train Marin and organized the crew to not 

allow Marin to "touch" any equipment". RP 9/17 /2014 p.43-44; RP 

9/10/2014 p.201; RP 9/18/2014 p.37. RTP's training depended on word of 

mouth, hands on training under an experienced operator to learn the plant. 

RP 9/16/2014 p.12-13. Deprived of meaningful work, Marin took his 

earned vacation leave rather than sit and "look lazy" with nothing to do. 
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WTD management did not notice Marin was gone for a month. RP 

911712014 P. 45-46. Terrified of further retaliation, Marin reported 

"anonymously" through counsel to County Prosecutor Lynn Kalina that he 

had observed Alenduffwatch computer porn on shift and sexually harass a 

female janitor. Exh.125. Shunned, Marin was found crying in a hallway. 

RP 9/23/2014 p.171-173. WTD moved Marin to "B Crew" at RTP while 

terminating Alenduffbut also investigating alleged errors by Marin on "C 

Crew". At direction of HR Mgr. Ramsey, and then HR attorney Hillary, 

"B Crew" Supervisor Read documented Marin who "shadowed" her crew 

as an "extra" employee. Exh.167; Exh.175; 911612014 P. 76:18-23; RP 

9/23/2014 p.176. Marin declined an offer to concede his WLAD complaint 

or HWE grievance on Mgr. Elardo's terms: a determination that there had 

been no discrimination, harassment or HWE at WPTP, coupled with an 

offer to remove the unfounded written discipline Sagnis imposed on Marin 

May 10, 2009. Exh.162.2 

RTP did not provide Marin required hazardous energy training for 

lockout/tag out (LOTO} of RTP high voltage equipment, and knew that 

R TP had developed no "equipment specific procedures" he could refer to. 

2 WPTP had further reason to remove Sagnis and Horton and allow Marin's return in late 
2009-2010. Sagnis and Horton were found culpable for a massive (Exxon Valdez sized) 
raw sewage spill into Puget Sound from WPTP. Horton was fired. Sagnis, disciplined 
again, remained over D Crew, blocking Marin's return. CP2947-2948; 2657-2658 The 
trial court excluded this evidence from the jury. 
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RP 9/16/2014 p.14-15; 9/16/2014 p.24-25. When WTD HR and the 

Prosecuting Attorney's office were scheduling Marin's WLAD complaint 

for mediation in late fall 2010, HR attorney Hillary started emailing and 

drafting documents for Read to write up Marin for alleged performance 

failings including seeking too much assistance from coworkers, and not 

knowing a name Read used to refer to one of RTP's old buildings; and not 

doing a complete, or correct "lock out" of the Raw Sewage Pump #2 (RSP 

#2). Exh.192; Exh.200; Exh.204; Exh.205, and ultimately threatening 

discipline up to termination for further "mistakes." Exh.206. The County 

ignored Marin's valid responses and Marin's doctors reported Marin's 

increase in anxiety, blood pressure and atrial fibrillation symptoms and 

taking Marin out of work on FMLA. Though Dr. Vance explained why 

Marin needed different supervisory methods, Exh.209, and Dr. Finch 

wrote that Marin could not return without changes in the work 

environment, the County did not implement requested or other 

accommodations. Exh.598. Marin remained off work rendered ill with 

anxiety and panic after a write up that threatened up to termination for not 

knowing RTP hazardous high voltage lock out tag out equipment and 

procedures for "every piece of equipment" in the RTP. Exh.205, Exh.206; 

Exh.598; Exh.209; Exh.262. The write up, different from the usual 

informal "TLC" memos which do not threaten discipline, RP 9/9/2014 p. 
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9-10, had been written by attorney Hillary, and cleared by the Prosecutors 

office especially for Marin, in a way that he could not grieve. RP 

9/09/2014 p.10. 

Marin, his doctors and attorney, asked for supportive supervision, 

training and corrective practices; for safety training, a walk through with a 

trained safety official, and for the written procedures for lock out of high 

voltage equipment like the RSP #2. Without such accommodations, Marin 

was never medically released to return to work and had to retire early May 

1, 2011, at a drastically reduced benefit, when he was running out of 

earned leave. Exh.228; Exh.230; Exh.209; RP 9/17/2014 p.70; Exh. 598; 

RP 9/10/2014 p.145-146. 

Marin filed suit on July 26, 2011. CP 1. Prior to trial, the court 

excluded swaths of Marin's "pre-statute" and other evidence in rulings on 

Motions in Limine. CP 2950-2951. Based on a finding that Marin's 

recording of 2 discipline and complaint related meetings with Sagnis 

violated RCW 9.73.030, Marin's testimony and evidence was further 

restricted. CP 1093. On a CR 50 motion the court dismissed Marin's 

claim that "retaliation" was a basis of the HWE. RP 9/24/2019 p.98. 

The Court shortened voir dire, denied time to follow up on bias 

issues apparent from the juror questionnaire RP 9/4/2014 p. l 02-103; CP 

7527-7535 (Sup of CP see appendix) denied Marin's request for an extra 
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peremptory on new Jurors m the box RP 910312014 p. l 71; denied 

"inherent bias" instructions RP 9/03/2014 p.1-8; CP 2990-2992; and 

denied Marin's Batson challenges. RP 9/04/2014 p.5-13. The County 

brought successful challenges to Mexican American and African 

American jurors, and in closing pointed at dark skinned U.S. citizen Marin 

referring to him more than once, over objection, as "the Defendant". RP 

9/25/2014p.48:14-24; p.49:2-8, p.17; p.52: 12. 

In contrast, the Court denied Marin's cause challenge to juror 71 

with clear bias in favor of his "good friend," his wife's "best friend", 

Prosecutor Kalina, involved in this case, whom the juror had seen twice 

during the week of this trial. RP 9/04/2014 p.l 04-105. Prior to the jurors 

being sworn, the Court declined to hear from juror 71 about his concern 

of fairness. RP 9/03/2014 p.168:3-16. The parties were informed after 

opening statements that juror 71 had sent an email to the Court. The Court 

denied Marin's motion to put the juror's written email in the record 

claiming " the entirety of the email is contained in the oral record." CP 

3604-3605. 

The Court ruled that any time questioning juror 71 would reduce 

the time that Marin had been allotted to present his evidence. RP 

9/04/2014 p.104:6-12. Marin renewed his challenge to have juror 71 

released as the alternate. The Court declined and used a lottery system. RP 
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9/24/2014 p.130-131. Juror 71 became the presiding juror who brought in 

a defense verdict. CP 3139-3141. The Court after the start of trial reduced 

the amount of time for each side from 1500 minutes to 1300 minutes. RP 

911112014 p.101-103. 

The Court denied Marin's motion to exclude County expert 

medical testimony about "character traits" and credibility of Marin's 

"perceptions" resulting in the jury hearing repeated objections as the term 

"paranoid traits" was repeated ten times. RP 91 2312014 p.210-216; RP 

9/24/2014 p.38:24; p.43:1; p.44:5; p.61:14; p.61:23; p.66:8; p.67:12 and 

p.67:15. 

In the Judgment the Court assessed Marin with excessive litigation 

costs not allowed by statute. CP 3587-3588. 

Marin, inter alia, appeals from; Judgment of October 31, 2014 

including the award of costs CP 3587-3589; 3508-3533; 3558-3561; the 

Jury Verdict of September 25, 2014 CP 3139-3140; the Order of February 

19, 2013 regarding Sanctions CP 1089-1096; the Order of November 20, 

2013 granting in part King County's Motion for Summary Judgment CP 

1752-1757; the Order 30, 2012 regarding King County's Motion for 

Evidentiary Hearing and Sanctions CP 587-591; the Order of February 25, 

2013 denying Marin's Motion for Sanctions for Spoliation CP 1098-1101 ; 

the Order of September 24, 2014 Granting of King County's CR 50 
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Motion for Directed Verdict on Marin's Retaliation Claim RP 9/24/2014 

P 98: 18-22 , and rulings on Motions in Limine, Admission of Evidence, 

and Jury Selection; County violations of Discovery and Trial Court 

Orders, and failure and refusal of the Court to take action to remedy overt 

and/or inherent bias before and during trial. 

V. ARGUMENT 

1. Summary Dismissal of Marin's Retaliation Claim was error. 

A. Review of Dismissal on Summary Judgment is "Denovo." 

Review of a grant of summary judgment is de novo. Camicia v. 

Howard S. Wright Constr. Co., 179 Wn.2d 684, 693, 317 P.3d 987 (2014). 

B. Evidence of "materially adverse " actions following WLAD 
protected activity precludes summary judgment. 

Whether alleged retaliatory acts are "materially adverse" as seen

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