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

evidence, but rather, evidence of behavior." In re Meistrell, 47 Wn. App. 

100, 109, 733 P.2d 1004 (1987); see also, e.g., Rivera v. Apfel, No. 98 C 

2682, 2000 WL 150761, at *8 (N.D. Ill. Feb. 7, 2000) (approving reliance 

on expert testimony that plaintiffs perceptions of medical issues were 
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inconsistent with "objective medical evidence"). Moreover, contrary to 

plaintiffs characterization of the record, Dr. McClung did not attack 

Marin's character or assert on direct that Marin was not credible. The trial 

court foreclosed such evidence and cautiously instructed the jury to 

disregard any testimony that even came close to the line. RP 9/23/2014 at 

215:9-17; RP 9/24/2014 at 38:23-39:7. The court's instructions are an 

independent reason for rejecting plaintiffs meritless assignment of error. 

See, e.g., State v. Perez-Valdez, 172 Wn.2d 808, 817-19, 265 P.3d 853 

(2011) (improper opinion that "[the victims] are telling me the truth" was 

cured by instruction to disregard the statement). 

Further, to the extent Dr. McClung eventually did address the 

accuracy of Marin's perceptions, it was after plaintiff elicited such 

testimony on cross. Plaintiffs counsel asked Dr. McClung to testify that 

Marin's perceptions were accurate, or in their words, "spot on." E.g., RP 

9/24/2014 at 56:2-5. Only after cross did defense counsel seek to clarify 

that many of Marin's perceptions were not, in fact, "spot-on"-a fact 

which also contributed to Dr. McClung's diagnosis. See RP 9/24/2014 at 

59: 17-61: 15. Plaintiff cannot be heard to complain about this testimony, 

when he was the one who opened the door. See United States v. Sine, 493 

F.3d 1021, 1037 (9th Cir. 2007) (the open door rule allows "evidence on 

the same issue to rebut any false impression") (quotation omitted). 
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3. Plaintiff Waived Any ER 702 Objection 

Plaintiff briefly argues that Dr. McClung's diagnosis of paranoid 

personality traits should not have been admitted because it ostensibly was 

not a "recognized" diagnosis. Pl.' s Br. at 56. Although not titled as such, 

this is really a motion to exclude Dr. McClung's opinions under Frye v. 

United States, 293 F. 1013 (D.C. Cir. 1923) and ER 702. See Anderson v. 

Akzo Nobel Coatings, Inc., 172 Wn.2d 593, 260 P.3d 857 (2011) 

(discussing test for admissibility of expert opinions under Frye and ER 

702). Plaintiff not only fails to satisfy (or argue) the elements of Frye, he 

did not include that objection among the various objections he raised when 

Dr. McClung offered his diagnosis. RP 9/24/2014 at 42:13-45:1; 66:5-9. 

As such, plaintiff did not preserve this alleged error for review. See 

Johnston-Forbes v. Matsunaga, 181 Wn.2d 346, 356, 333 P.3d 388 (2014) 

(declining to consider Frye challenge where it was not preserved). 12 

12 Plaintiff also makes the conclusory assertion that he was "denied a 'thorough sifting' 
cross examination of Dr. McClung, limited by the Court to 15 minutes .... " Pl. 's Br. at 
58. Plaintiff omits that the court allotted equal time to each side for purposes of 
completing the trial by a deadline, without objection. RP 9/11/2014 at I 0I:13-103: 18; 
see also RP 9/23/2014 at 70: 17-18 (plaintiffs counsel: "the Court said that the parties 
had equal time and I accepted that"). Plaintiff used all but 14 minutes of his time before 
King County called Dr. McClung as a witness. RP 9/23/2014 at 216: 1-6. The trial court 
therefore allowed him to question Dr. McClung for 15 minutes. Id. This Court should 
reject plaintiffs conclusory argument that this allotment of time was improper. 
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G. Marin's Objections to Supposed Discovery "Violations" Are 
Meritless, and Were Waived: Assignments 13-14 

In a short, two-page section of his brief, plaintiff addresses three 

arguments regarding alleged discovery violations. Plaintiff's cursory 

discussion of these issues is inadequate for review, waiving assignments 

of error 13 and 14. These objections are also wrong on the merits. 

First, plaintiff summarily argues that the trial court improperly 

denied his motion "about County discovery abuse and spoliation." Pl.'s 

Br. at 44-45. Although he cites two orders that he believes were in error, 

he does not explain (and the County cannot ascertain) why he contends 

they were deficient, waiving his assignment of error. Supra III.A. 

Second, the County offered at trial two ER 1006 summaries of data 

generated by the WTD electronic time-keeping system. See Trial Exs. 

618A-619A; RP 9/18/2014 at 208:12-213:3. The data underlying those 

summaries was produced to plaintiff before trial, as soon as the County 

discovered it, belying plaintiffs only argument against its admissibility. 

See RP 9/18/2014 at 212:20-213:3. Moreover, even ifthere had been 

error, there would be no prejudice: the ER 1006 summaries merely 

reflected how Marin's time was recorded at the South Plant, which was 

not a central issue on either of Marin's claims. See Colley v. Peacehealth, 

177 Wn. App. 717, 727, 312 P.3d 989 (2013) (error in permitting use of 
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inadmissible document did not require reversal because it related to an 

issue on which "plaintiffs case did not depend"). 

Finally, plaintiff objects to Trial Exhibits 458, 629, and 630. Pl. 's 

Br. at 44. The basis for his objection is unclear. Although he claims that 

""the County produced new 'emails' and 'logs' during testimony of 

Marin's witnesses," Exhibit 458 was produced during discovery and is 

bates stamped as such. Trial Ex. 458 (stamped KC0016092). Meanwhile, 

Exhibits 629 and 630, which were not subject to the discovery cited by 

plaintiff, were also never shown to the jury. The County did not introduce 

either exhibit into evidence. RP 9/9/2014 at 43:24-44:1, 104:1-4. 

Plaintiff also waived his demand for sanctions as to these exhibits. 

After plaintiff requested sanctions in an oral motion, the County pointed 

out that these documents were not within the scope of plaintiffs 

discovery. RP 9/9/2014 at 58:22-59:20. The trial court reserved ruling 

and instructed plaintiff to file a written motion. RP 91912014 at 59:21-

60:9. Plaintiff never filed that motion, and thus did not preserve this 

assignment. State v. Englund, 186 Wn. App. 444, 455-56, 345 P.3d 859 

(2015) (affirming decision not to grant relief requested in oral motion, due 

to non-compliance with the court's instruction to file a written motion). 
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H. The Court Correctly Directed a Verdict on the Retaliation 
Aspect of the Hostile Work Environment Claim: Assignment 2 

The trial court permitted plaintiffs hostile work environment claim 

to be decided by the jury. First, however, the court granted King County's 

directed verdict motion in-part, limiting the basis for that claim to alleged 

discrimination and dismissing the "retaliation" component of the claim. 

CP 6575-76. The trial court's decision should be affirmed. 

1. Standard to Prove a Retaliatory Hostile Work Environment 

The WLAD prohibits retaliation based on protected conduct. 

Washington courts have defined the scope of such conduct narrowly: the 

making of complaints is only "protected" if the employee explicitly 

complains about discrimination based on protected class. See Alonso, 178 

Wn. App. at 754 (a complaint "does not rise to the level of protected 

activity ... absent some reference to the plaintiffs protected status."). 

When a plaintiff grounds a hostile work environment claim on 

allegations of retaliation, as opposed to discrimination, the plaintiff still 

must prove the traditional elements of a hostile work environment. Thus, 

plaintiff bears the burden to prove that he experienced "severe or 

pervasive harassment in retaliation for engaging in protected activity." 

Noviello v. City of Boston, 398 F.3d 76, 92 (1st Cir. 2005). "It is only 

those actions, directed at a complainant, that stem from a retaliatory 
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animus which may be factored into the hostile work environment 

calculus." Id. at 93 (emphasis added). Where an alleged harasser is 

unaware of the plaintiffs protected conduct, their actions cannot form the 

basis for a retaliatory hostile work environment as a matter of law: 

[T]here must be, at a minimum, ... competent evidence 
that the alleged retaliators knew of the plaintiffs protected 
activity and that a retaliatory motive played a part in the 
adverse employment actions. . . . The reasons underlying 
such a requirement are obvious: if a supervisor or other 
employee is unaware of the fact that a plaintiff engaged in 
protected conduct, any actions attributable to him could not 
plausibly have been induced by retaliatory motives. 

Alvarado v. Donahoe, 687 F.3d 453, 459-60 (1st Cir. 2012) 

(quotations and citations omitted; emphasis in original). 13 

Before the trial court, plaintiff argued that he did not need 

to show that his harassers knew he engaged in protected conduct or 

that they harassed him for that reason. In support of that notion, he 

asked the court to adopt the "imputed knowledge theory," under 

which some courts have imputed knowledge of protected conduct 

to any manager within an organization with the authority to impose 

an adverse employment action, in the context of a stand-alone 

retaliation claim. See Jones v. Bernanke, 557 F.3d 670, 679 (D.C. 

13 The protected conduct must also be close in time to the alleged harassment. Francom 
v. Costco Wholesale Corp., 98 Wn. App. 845, 862, 991 P.2d 1182 (2000) (no retaliation 
where "no proximity in time suggesting a nexus" between complaint and adverse action). 
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Cir. 2009). Other U.S. Courts of Appeals have rejected this 

concept. See, e.g., Brungart v. BellSouth Telecomms., Inc., 23 1 

F.3d 791, 800 (1 lth Cir. 2000) ("[W]e [are] not ... persuaded to 

adopt [plaintiffs] imputed knowledge theory .... Because [the 

supervisor] did not know of the protected conduct, he could not 

have taken that action on the corporation's behalf because of the 

protected conduct."). But this Court need not take sides in this 

circuit split, because it only arises in the context of a retaliation 

claim based on an adverse action. The County has not found any 

case applying this theory to a hostile work environment claim. 

Applying the "imputed knowledge theory" to a hostile 

work environment claim would produce absurd results. In a 

retaliation claim, the plaintiff only needs to show that "the 

employer" knew of his protected activity, because any "adverse 

action" is imputed to the employer. See Graves v. Dep 't of Game, 

76 Wn. App. at 712. By contrast, in the context of a hostile work 

environment claim, the plaintiff must separately demonstrate that 

specific individuals harassed him based on his protected class or 

conduct, and that their harassment should be imputed to the 

employer. See Glasgow v. Georgia-Pac. Corp., 103 Wn.2d 401, 

406-07, 693 P.2d 708 (1985). If Plaintiff could establish that all 
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conduct of all individuals in the County was retaliatory merely 

because someone in management knew that he had engaged in 

protected conduct, it would eviscerate his burden under Glasgow. 

Indeed, under plaintiffs theory, once an employee lodges a 

complaint of any kind, any offensive conduct by anyone who 

works for the same employer would become "retaliation," even if 

they did not know about the complaint. That is not the law. 

2. Plaintiff Laid No Foundation for Retaliatory Animus 

The trial court dismissed the retaliation component of plaintiffs 

claim because he did not lay a sufficient foundation. After reviewing all 

the evidence at trial, the court found that plaintiff did not put on any 

evidence to show that a single alleged harasser knew, at the time of the 

harassment, that plaintiff had engaged in protected conduct. CP 6575-76. 

The evidence at trial showed that the County was careful to avoid 

unnecessary disclosure of Marin's discrimination complaints, and to 

prevent the individuals against whom he made complaints of having 

further contact with him. For example, Marin first complained about 

discrimination on the D Crew at West Point on June 19, 2009. RP 

9/10/2014 at 17:1-21. The County transferred him to the South Plant, at 

his request, immediately after the complaint. Trial Exs. 89, 467; RP 

91912014 at 179:23-181 :9 (explaining that Marin never returned to West 
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Point after June 2009). Thus, by the time Marin's former West Point 

coworkers knew he had made a discrimination complaint, their 

interactions with him already had ended. For this reason, when Marin's 

former West Point supervisor, Jim Sagnis, made inappropriate comments 

(for which he was reprimanded) outside Marin's presence in October 

2009-ofwhich plaintiff was completely unaware prior to discovery in 

this lawsuit-those comments did not constitute "harassment" of Marin 

for purposes of a hostile work environment claim. See, e.g., Williams v. 

ConAgra Poultry Co., 378 F.3d 790, 794 (8th Cir. 2004) ("plaintiff cannot 

recover for harassment of which he or she is unaware"); Mason v. S. Ill. 

Univ., 233 F.3d 1036, 1046 (7th Cir. 2000) ("Mean-spirited or derogatory 

behavior of which a plaintiff is unaware, and thus never experiences, is not 

'harassment' of the plaintiff (severe, pervasive, or other)."). 

Further, when Marin transferred to the South Plant, the County did 

not tell his new coworkers that he had alleged discrimination at West 

Point. See, e.g., RP 9/18/2014 at 27:4-24; RP 9/22/2014 at 102:21-104:22. 

And when Marin later accused his C Crew supervisor, Jim Alenduff, of 

looking at pornography (leading to Alenduff s termination), the County 

respected his request not to attach his name to a complaint. RP 9/9/2014 

at 169:2-170: 1. Plaintiff offered no evidence that any harasser knew he 

had made a discrimination complaint before they allegedly harassed him. 
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Even now, plaintiff does not identify a single person who learned 

of his complaints about discrimination before allegedly harassing him. 

Instead, plaintiff implicitly admits the accuracy of the trial court's finding 

by claiming only that there was "widespread notice of protected WLAD 

activity." Pl.'s Br. at 23. He then gives a list of fifteen bullet points which 

are all designed to obfuscate this simple fact: the record does not reflect 

anyone who harassed Marin after learning he engaged in protected 

conduct. Id. at 23-26. Without such a foundation, none of Marin's 

alleged harassers could have conceivably harbored retaliatory animus. 

Plaintiff's bullets ultimately are irrelevant to this issue. Many of 

the "complaints" he relies upon were not "protected" under the WLAD 

because they did not allege discrimination. See, e.g., Pl.'s Br. at 23, ~ l; 

Alonso, 178 Wn. App. at 754 (complaint was not protected "absent some 

reference to the plaintiff's protected status"). For example, Marin's 

original complaints in the limitations period only alleged unspecified 

harassment and did not refer to his protected class. RP 91912014 at 

113 :23-114:2 (original complaint made "unspecified allegations"); id. at 

120: 14-121: 18 (similar with respect to union grievance). 

Plaintiff also describes the cited evidence in an inaccurate manner. 

For instance, he claims that "Mike Fischer ... knew of Marin's 

allegations of a [hostile environment] on 'D Crew' at [West Point]." Pl.'s 
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Br. at 24. That allegation is irrelevant because plaintiff does not allege 

that Fischer ever harassed him. But even more fundamentally, Fischer 

actually denied having such knowledge in the testimony cited by plaintiff. 

RP 9/16/2014 at 71: 17-73 :25 (" ... I didn't know that at the time. "). 14 

In sum, plaintiff did not introduce evidence that anyone at King 

County harassed him because he engaged in protected conduct. This 

Court should affirm the trial court's partial directed verdict. 

I. Plaintifrs Asserted Errors are Harmless for the Additional 
Reason that He Failed to Establish a Prima Facie Case at Trial 

The trial court was extremely cautious in submitting plaintiffs 

claims to the jury. The fact is that the evidence plaintiff offered at trial 

was so deficient that no reasonable jury could have rendered a verdict for 

plaintiff on either of his claims. As a result, any asserted error at trial 

would be harmless. See Atwood v. Pac. Maritime Ass 'n, 657 F .2d 1055, 

1058 (9th Cir. 1981) (erroneous denial of jury trial was harmless because 

"no reasonable jury could properly find a verdict for the [appellants]"); 

State v. Kidd, 57 Wn. App. 95, 101, 786 P.2d 847 (1990) (error injury 

instruction was harmless where "no reasonable jury could have found" for 

14 As another example, plaintiff implies that County employees knew he was scheduled to 
engage in mediation-but he cites no evidence of such knowledge. Pl.'s Br. at 26, ~ 14. 
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appellant). This includes the trial court's evidentiary rulings, order

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